No. 45764-4-11

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JOB M. EDWARDS

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

RICHARD W. LECHICH Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. INTRODUCTION

Job Edwards was prosecuted for several offenses stemming from his and his brother's efforts to defend themselves in their home against two armed robbers. In self-defense, Job shot and killed one of these robbers. Job was not charged with homicide. Rather, he was convicted of drug crimes, unlawful imprisonment, and felony harassment. Though he had no prior convictions and the substantive crimes carried a sentence of only 18 months, Job was sentenced to nearly twenty years of confinement due to nine firearm enhancements. Most of these were for guns possessed by his brother, which included the gun seized from the robbers. The convictions should be reversed for insufficient evidence or, alternatively, for errors that deprived Job of his right to a fair trial. If not, most of the firearm enhancements should be vacated.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

In violation of the due process clause of the Fourteenth
 Amendment, the evidence was insufficient to support all four convictions.

2. The court erred in failing to give a requested self-defense instruction, relieving the State of its burden of proof in violation of due process under the Fourteenth Amendment. CP 750.

3. The court erred in admitting prior acts evidence in violation of ER 404(b).

4. The court erred in admitting irrelevant evidence.

 In violation of the due process clause of the Fourteenth
 Amendment, prosecutorial misconduct deprived the defendant of his right to a fair trial.

6. In violation of the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, most of the firearm enhancements are not supported by sufficient evidence.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Unlawful threats to kill constitute felony harassment. To be an accomplice, a person must have knowledge of the crime. Actual participation is required. Immediately following the failed robbery in their house, Job's brother, Michael, threatened to kill one of robbers. Job was not in the room when this threat was made. Based on his brother's lawful threat, the prosecutor argued that Job was guilty of felony harassment as an accomplice. Was the evidence insufficient to prove that Job was guilty of felony harassment as an accomplice or principal?

2. To be guilty of unlawful imprisonment, the restraint must be without legal authority. Under the law of self-defense in Washington, a person in lawful possession of his home may use force to detain a person who unlawfully enters or remains in the building. Job and his brother momentarily detained the surviving robber, by brandishing or pointing

guns. The man wanted to take his dead companion with him. The Edwards accommodated this request, but the man changed his mind and ran away. No one tried to stop him. Was the evidence insufficient to prove that any restraint was unlawful?

3. Job lived downstairs while his two roommates, his brother and his brother's girlfriend, lived upstairs. All three had prescriptions for oxycodone. On October 25, 2012, Michael's girlfriend agreed to sell oxycodone to two men. Shortly thereafter, the two men arrived at the house and were invited upstairs by Job's roommates. There was no evidence that Job had spoken with his roommates that day. When one of the men pulled out a gun and tried to rob his roommates of the pills, Job was downstairs in his room. Was the evidence insufficient to prove that, on October 25, 2012, Job possessed oxycodone with intent to deliver?

4. To be guilty of unlawful use of a building for drug purposes, a person must have allowed others to deal drugs from a space over which the person maintained control. Job did not allow others to deal drugs from downstairs, the space over which he maintained controlled. Did the State fail to meet its burden to prove this crime?

5. Unlawful imprisonment requires proof of knowledge and that the restraint was unlawful. Self-defense is lawful and negates these elements, requiring the State to prove the absence of self-defense. To

protect themselves and their home, Job and Michael threated to use force against the remaining robber. The court refused to give the self-defense instruction on defense of persons or property through use of necessary force. Necessary force may include putting a trespasser in fear of physical harm. Did the court relieve the State of its burden of proof?

6. Propensity evidence is inadmissible under ER 404(b). Job objected to other acts evidence under ER 404(b), but the court admitted the evidence as relevant to accomplice liability. Did the court err in admitting propensity evidence that Job had sold drugs in the past?

7. Irrelevant evidence is not admissible. Job had a gas-mask and knife in his room. His brother had a bullet-resistant vest in his room. Overruling Job's relevance objections, the court accepted the State's theory that this evidence tended to prove Job's knowledge or intent on the drug charges. Did the court err in admitting this irrelevant evidence?

8. During closing argument, the prosecutor compared the case to the movie "Pulp Fiction." Based on the Edwards brothers' lawfully possessed firearms and other items, the State further argued that Job had been living in an "armed camp" and had been prepared to combat police. Finally, though Job was not charged with homicide, the prosecutor argued that the jury had not heard evidence that the Job was justified in the killing. Is there a substantial chance that this flagrant and ill-intentioned

misconduct affected the verdicts?

9. To impose a firearm enhancement, the State must prove that there was a connection between the firearm and the crime, and that the firearm was readily available. At the time of the purported crime of possession with intent to deliver, Job had a handgun and rifle in his room while his brother Michael had a shotgun in his room. Job was not involved in the attempted drug sale and Michael was in the living room away from his gun when the drug sale failed. Did the State fail to meet its burden to prove that Job or an accomplice were armed with these three firearms during the attempted delivery by Job's roommates?

10. As to the unlawful imprisonment charge, the jury found that Job or an accomplice were armed with three guns. One was Job's handgun, another was Michael's shotgun, and the third was the robber's gun, which Michael had secured by picking up. The evidence did not prove that Job was aware that Michael had the robber's gun. Did the State fail to prove a connection between this gun and the unlawful imprisonment count?

11. As to the felony harassment charge, the jury found that Job or an accomplice were armed with the same three guns as on the unlawful imprisonment count. Michael did not have the robber's gun at the time of the threat. Job was unaware that Michael was going to threaten the other

robber. Excluding the shotgun, did the State fail to prove that there was a connection between the guns and the purported crime of harassment?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In October 25, 2012, Job Edwards lived downstairs in a split level home in Bonney Lake. RP 144. Job's brother, Michael Edwards, and Michael's girlfriend, Krystal Freitas, lived upstairs.¹ RP 144. Other than a shared kitchen upstairs, both had complete living areas. RP 144.

Job has Charcot Marie Tooth (CMT) disorder and Factor V Leiden. Ex. 43 at 12.² CMT disorder causes nerve degeneration. Ex. 43 at 13. A person may experience sensations of burning, stabbing, numbress, and tingling. Ex. 43 at 13. The condition is progressive and becomes worse over time. Ex 43 at 17. Factor V Leiden is an inherited disorder that causes blood clotting. Ex. 43 at 15. Due to this latter condition, Job has problems with his left leg. Ex. 43 at 15. To manage these conditions, Job has been taking prescription pain medications since being diagnosed in his teens. Ex. 43 at 12, 19.

Krystal was addicted to oxycodone. RP 149, 153, 169. She began taking pain medication after a back surgery in 2006 due to an injury. RP

¹ For clarity, Job and Michael are referred to by their first names. Krystal is also referred to by her first name for consistency.

 $^{^2}$ This exhibit is a transcript of deposition testimony presented at trial. RP 426-28, 501-02.

152-53. She had prescriptions for oxycodone. RP 154; Ex. 21. She sold pills and had around 10 to 15 customers around October 2012. RP 159. Michael also had prescriptions for Oxycodone. Ex. 20. Through Krystal, he sold pills and had about five customers of his own. RP 158-59. According to Krystal, in 2012 Job would occasionally sell some of his pills to Michael, but no one else. RP 156, 158. Krystal estimated that 98 percent of sales she conducted were outside of the home. RP 167. She often sold without Michael's knowledge. RP 128, 159.

One of Krystal's regular customers was a woman named Stevie Geeson. RP 119, 438-40. Stevie³ was addicted to oxycodone. RP 83, 118. Stevie testified that she bought Percocet, which have 30 milligrams of oxycodone per pill, from Krystal. RP 438, 452-53. While some transactions occurred in Krystal's home, most usually happened outside the home at gas stations, parking lots, or down the road. RP 99, 439. Michael was sometimes with Krystal. RP 439. Job was never present. RP 439, 447. In at least one purchase that was immediately outside of the home, Krystal told Stevie to be quiet and pointed at Job's bedroom window. RP 440. While Stevie knew of Job, she first saw him in court in this case. RP 439-40.

³ For clarity, Stevie is referred to by her first name to avoid confusion.

Stevie's younger brother, Colton, testified that he sometimes accompanied Stevie when she went to buy pills from Krystal and Michael. RP 117, 128. Colton also abused oxycodone. RP 452. He bought Percocet from Krystal and got pills through Stevie. RP 117, 121-22. Until October 25, 2012, he had never seen Job and had never been inside the home. RP 124.

Stevie had a friend named Donald Thomas, who used the alias DJ. RP 87, 323. Stevie introduced DJ to Colton in 2012. RP 87, 125. DJ was a drug dealer. RP 87. DJ had robbed people before and asked Stevie if she knew of any drug dealers he could rob. RP 442. DJ told her that he made his money by robbing drug dealers. RP 445. Stevie and Colton were aware that DJ had a gun. RP 94. DJ sometimes spent the night at Colton's place. RP 90. Colton's fiancée thought DJ was dangerous and did not want him in their home. RP 126, 129.

Stevic asked Colton if he would arrange for DJ to buy Percocet from Krystal. RP 90. Colton agreed. RP 90. The plan was that DJ would buy fifty Percocet from Krystal for \$1500. RP 94. For setting up the deal, Colton would receive \$100 from DJ. RP 91.

On October 25, 2012, Colton text messaged Krystal asking about buying 50 Percocet. RP 90-91, 164. Krystal agreed to the sale. RP 91. Colton and DJ went to Krystal's house. RP 96. Colton assumed that DJ

was carrying his gun. RP 94. Colton at first led Krystal to believe that he was coming by himself. RP 165. About 30 minutes before they met, Colton told Krystal that another person was coming with him and that he would not let him come alone. RP 165, 172-73.

They pulled up to the house in DJ's car shortly before about 4:00 p.m. <u>See RP 92-93, 96, 326-27</u>. As the car arrived, Job, who had been outside smoking a cigarette, went inside and downstairs to his room. RP 323-24. Krystal intended the deal to take place in the driveway next door, but Michael, who was with her, was uncomfortable and told Krystal to complete the deal inside. RP 173-74. Krystal had not spoken to Job that day. RP 215.

Krystal introduced Colton to Michael. RP 97. Michael, Krystal, Colton, and DJ entered the house and went upstairs to the living room area. RP 174-75. Krystal showed Colton and DJ the pills. RP 97, 175. As Michael started to walk toward his bedroom down the hall, DJ pulled out his gun, put it to Michael's head, and demanded, "Give me the fucking pills." RP 97, 177. Michael and DJ began to fight in the area in front of the staircase. RP 98, 177-78. Krystal tried to run away, but DJ grabbed her, hit her with his gun, and commanded her "to stay the fuck down." RP 177. Michael yelled for Job to help. RP 98, 177.

Job, downstairs in his room, heard the cry. RP 175, 324. Job

grabbed his gun and began making his way upstairs. RP 324. He encountered DJ as he was coming upstairs near the landing by the front door. RP 99, 324. DJ may have been making his way down the stairs from the living room. RP 99. Job saw DJ raise his right arm. RP 324. While unsure whether DJ was armed, Job was afraid he was going to be shot. RP 324. Job fired multiple shots and DJ went down. RP 324.

After Colton heard gunshots, Michael appeared next to him with a shotgun. RP 99. Colton testified that Michael pointed the shotgun at him and told Colton that he had to kill him. RP 99. Job was not present. RP 133. Colton showed Michael he was unarmed. RP 99. Colton testified that he backed up to a sliding door near the kitchen and went outside. RP 100. He saw a little girl next door and asked her to call the police as someone had been shot. RP 100. Michael walked up to him with the shotgun and told him to get back inside. RP 100. Colton followed Michael to the platform by the front door where DJ was laying. RP 100.

Colton claimed he did not know that DJ was going to try to rob Krystal. RP 102. Colton said he would leave, that he would take DJ with him, that they would not see them again, and that he would not talk to the police. RP 102-03. He did not recall Job saying anything to him. RP 102. Michael and Krystal led Colton outside. RP 101, 104. By this point, Michael had secured DJ's gun on his person. RP 104-105.

Using a button in the back of the garage, Job opened the garage door and Colton slowly drove in. RP 104. Colton perceived that Job had his gun on him as he got out of the car. RP 104, 106. Michael had dragged DJ down the stairs to the entrance to the garage inside the house. RP 106-07. Michael told Job to close the garage door, but the door would not close. RP 107. At this point, Colton ducked under the garage door and ran across the street. RP 107-08. He eventually found a neighbor who let him use a phone. RP 108. After calling his sister and his father, Colton called 911. RP 108-09. Colton left Stevie a message admitting that he and DJ tried to "jack" Krystal, and that DJ had been shot. RP 446-47. About two minutes after the 911 call, the police arrived. RP 109. Around the same time, Michael called 911. RP 232.

Colton testified that while Job had pointed his gun at him, Job had not threatened to kill him, had not been present when Michael threatened to kill him, had not ordered him to move DJ's body, had not touched DJ's body, and never demanded that he do anything. RP 131-33. Krystal did not recall Job threatening to kill Colton or commanding Colton to do anything. RP 216.

Krystal testified that in the immediate aftermath of the incident, Michael told her to get the pills out of the house. RP 181. She gathered many of the pill bottles that were upstairs and went to Michael's car. RP 182-83. The bottle with pills had been in Michael's control. RP 184. Krystal consumed a large amount of the pills and left the rest in the car. RP 183. She drove the car down the street, left it, and returned to the house. 183, 185. She took some of the pills with her. RP 185. She ingested more pills later that day, including while in custody. RP 185-88.

Police later found many prescription bottles in the car. RP 285-86. Four bottles were in a camera bag. RP 287-90. One of these bottles had a label for Oxycodone in Job's name and had been fulfilled on October 22, 2012. RP 295-96; Ex. 18L, 22. It had 30 pills inside. RP 296.

The State filed charges against Job, Michael,⁴ Krystal, and Colton. RP 29, 114, 217. Job was ultimately charged with possession of a controlled substance with intent to deliver (Count I), unlawful use of a building for drug purposes (Count III), kidnapping in the first degree (Count IV), and felony harassment (Count V).⁵ CP 11-14. The State alleged three firearm enhancements each on counts 1, IV, and V. CP 11-14. The State's theory of the case was that Job was guilty as an accomplice to the crimes of harassment, kidnapping, and possession with

 $^{^4}$ With the State's agreement, Michael's case was continued, severing the cases. RP 19-23, 29.

⁵ Job was also charged with conspiracy to possess a controlled substance with intent to deliver. CP 11. On Job's motion, the court severed this charge. CP 54. The court granted the State's motion to dismiss the charge without prejudice. CP 780-82.

intent to deliver. RP 510-14 (prosecutor's closing argument); CP 11, 13-14 (charging accomplice liability).

The jury convicted Job as charged except as to kidnapping. CP 714-19. Job was found guilty of the lesser included offense of unlawful imprisonment. CP 718. The jury found all nine firearm enhancements. CP 720-28. The court sentenced Job to 234 months, nearly 20 years, in confinement. CP 790. Due to the firearm enhancements, 216 of these months were "flat time" that ran consecutively. CP 790.

E. ARGUMENT

1. The evidence was insufficient to find Job guilty of felony harassment.

A person is guilty of felony harassment if, without lawful authority, the person knowingly threatens to kill a person and the threat places the person in reasonable fear that it would be carried out. RCW 9A.46.020(1)(a)(i), (2)(b)(ii). Michael threatened to kill Colton immediately following the botched robbery. The State's theory was that Job was guilty as an accomplice. RP 513-14 ("based on the evidence that we have in this case with Michael telling Colton, 'I am gonna kill you,' clearly Felony Harassment. The question is whether or not Job, as an accomplice of Michael, is also guilty of that, as well."). This Court should reverse for insufficient evidence because (1) the evidence did not prove Job was complicit in the threat, (2) the evidence did not prove the threat was unlawful, and (3) the evidence did not prove Job himself placed Colton in reasonable fear that the threat would be carried out.

a. The State bears the burden of proving all the elements of an offense beyond a reasonable doubt.

Due Process requires the State prove every element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>In re Winship</u>, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art 1, § 3. The test for determining the sufficiency of the evidence is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v.</u> <u>Green</u>, 94 Wn.2d 216, 220–22, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). Reversal for insufficient evidence requires dismissal of the charge with prejudice. <u>Burks v. United States</u>, 437 U.S. 1, 11, 98 S. Ct. 2141, 57 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1978).

b. Because Job was merely present, the evidence was insufficient to prove he was an accomplice to harassment.

A person is an accomplice if, with knowledge that it will promote or facilitate the commission of the crime, the person solicits, commands, encourages, or requests another person to commit the crime. RCW 9A.08.020(3)(a)(i). Additionally, a person is an accomplice if, with knowledge that it will promote or facilitate the commission of the crime, the person aides or agrees to another person in planning or committing the crime. RCW 9A.08.020(3)(a)(ii). The person must have knowledge of <u>the crime</u> for which the person was eventually charged, not merely <u>a</u> <u>crime</u>. <u>State v. Cronin</u>, 142 Wn.2d 568, 579, 14 P.3d 752 (2000). Further, mere knowledge or physical presence at the scene of a crime is insufficient. <u>In re Welfare of Wilson</u>, 91 Wn.2d 487, 491-92, 588 P.2d 1161 (1979). The State must prove that the defendant actually participated in the crime. <u>State v. Everybodytalksabout</u>, 145 Wn.2d 456, 471, 39 P.3d 294 (2002).

To find Job guilty of felony harassment, the jury was required to find that "the defendant or his accomplice knowingly threatened to kill Colton Geeson immediately or in the future." CP 708. The evidence was insufficient to prove this.

There was no evidence that Job threatened to kill Colton. RP 133, 216. The evidence was that Michael threatened to kill Colton. Colton testified that immediately after hearing gunshots, Michael appeared with a shotgun and threatened to kill him. RP 99.

As Colton and Krystal testified, Job was not present during the attempted robbery. RP 130-31, 216. He was not upstairs in the room when he heard his brother make the threat. RP 133, 175, 324, 327-28.

Colton himself testified that when Michael threatened to kill him, Job was not present. RP 133. Additionally, there was no evidence that Job knew Michael was going to threaten to kill Colton or assisted him in the threat.

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