**NO. 45764-4-II**

---

---

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

JOB M. EDWARDS, APPELLANT

---

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County  
The Honorable John McCarty

No. 12-1-04068-2

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

MARK LINDQUIST  
Prosecuting Attorney

By  
BRENT J. HYER  
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney  
WSB # 33338

930 Tacoma Avenue South  
Room 946  
Tacoma, WA 98402  
PH: (253) 798-7400

**

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

c. Unlawful Possession of a Controlled Substance With Intent to Deliver

To convict the defendant of unlawful possession of a controlled substance with intent to deliver, the State proved that the defendant or an accomplice, unlawfully, feloniously, and knowingly possess, with intent to deliver to another, a controlled substance, Oxycodone, a narcotic, classified under Schedule II of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act. RCW 69.50.401(a)(2)(a).

Krystal testified that she, defendant, and Michael sold prescription pills out of the home. 4 RP 156. All three of them had prescriptions for pills. 4 RP 157. They would fill the prescriptions and put the pills into a combined group pile where they would each be allotted pills for personal use or for sale. 4 RP 157. Michael would hold onto the pills and money. 4 RP 157. While all three sold pills, Krystal did the majority of the selling. 4 RP 158.

Defendant's prescription history during the preceding months and year's corroborates Krystal's testimony. Defendant used cash to purchase oxycodone pills from a pharmacy in Snohomish, Washington, on a monthly basis. 6 RP 365-371. Defendant used cash to purchase oxycodone pills from an Arlington pharmacy on a monthly basis. 6 RP

375. Defendant used cash to purchase oxycodone pills from Peckenpaugh Drug in Auburn, Washington, on a monthly basis. 6 RP 382.

Among the hundreds of pill bottles found at the scene, a prescription bottle in defendant's name was recovered with thirty pills still in it. Exh. 18L. Krystal testified that this was the current bottle they were using, and she put the pills from the interrupted sale in this bottle as she tried to get rid of evidence. 4 RP 183. There is sufficient evidence to uphold defendant's conviction.

d. Unlawful Use of a Building for Drug Purposes

To convict the defendant for unlawful use of building for drug purposes, the State proved that the defendant did unlawfully and feloniously have under his control, a room, space or enclosure as owner, lessee, agent, employee, or mortgagee and to knowingly rent, lease or make it available for use with or without compensation, the building, room or enclosure for the purpose of unlawfully manufacturing, delivering, selling, storing, or giving away any controlled substances. RCW 69.53.010.

As stated in the preceding section, there was sufficient evidence that defendant, along with Krystal and Michael, was using the house as a

base of operations for selling oxycodone.<sup>2</sup> Defendant admitted to police that he knew Krystal was selling pills out of the house. 5 RP 327.

Robert Kanany rented the home to defendant and Michael. 4 RP 223.

Therefore, the house was under defendant's control as he was a lessee and he was allowing Krystal to sell oxycodone out of the home.

The fact that defendant's bedroom was downstairs and the drug transaction at issue was upstairs does not negate defendant's conviction. There was no testimony that he did not have access to or control over the upstairs of the house. In fact, the testimony was that the home only had one kitchen that was in the upstairs portion of the house, and defendant had use of this space. 4 RP 144. These facts are distinguishable from *State v. Davis*, 176 Wn. App.385, 308 P.3d 807 (2013), where the defendant in that case lived in a single room in a motel and was only selling drugs out of her own room. There is sufficient evidence to uphold defendant's conviction.

---

<sup>2</sup> The culpability of an owner or manager, or in this case a lessee, for the unlawful use of a building for drug purposes is a distinct issue apart from the manufacture, or in this case the sale, of the controlled substance. *State v. Bryant*, 78 Wn. App. 805, 810-811, 901 P.2d 1046 (1995) (defendant, who is found not guilty of manufacturing marijuana can still be convicted of making a building available for the manufacture of a controlled substance at a subsequent trial.)

2. THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE FROM WHICH A RATIONAL TRIER OF FACT COULD HAVE FOUND THAT DEFENDANT OR AN ACCOMPLICE WAS ARMED WITH A FIREARM AT THE TIME OF THE COMMISSION OF THE CRIMES.<sup>3</sup>

A defendant or an accomplice is armed with a deadly weapon/firearm at the time of the commission of the crime if he, she, or another participant in the crime causes a deadly weapon/firearm to be “readily available for use,” either offensively or defensively, during the commission of the crime. *State v. Simonson*, 91 Wn. App. 874, 882, 960 P.2d 955, 960 (1998). A nexus between the defendant, the weapon and the crime must be established. *State v. Schelin*, 147 Wn.2d 562, 575-76, 55 P.3d 632 (2002). The State need not establish with mathematical precision the specific time and place that a weapon was readily available and easily accessible, so long as it was at the time of the crime. *State v. O’Neal*, 159 Wn.2d 500, 504-505, 150 P.3d 1121 (2007). Knowledge of a firearm is not an element of the firearm enhancement statute. *State v. Barnes* 153 Wn.2d 378, 386-387, 103 P.3d 1219 (2005) (citing *State v. Woolfolk*, 95 Wn. App. 541, 977 P.2d 1 (1999)). The State does not need to prove that the defendant had actual knowledge that an accomplice was armed, only that the defendant or an accomplice was armed. *State v. Bilal*, 54 Wn. App. 778, 781-782, 776 P.2d 153 (1989).

---

<sup>3</sup> This was defendant’s ninth argument; however, the State chooses to group this with the other arguments regarding sufficiency of the evidence.

Four firearms were collected at the scene: a Glock 23 .40 caliber handgun, a Benelli Super 90 shotgun, a .45 caliber Taurus handgun and an SKS assault rifle. 4 RP 240. All four were tested and found functional. 4 RP 240.

With regard to Count I, unlawful possession of a controlled substance with intent to deliver, the jury found that the defendant or an accomplice were armed with a .40 caliber Glock, a SKS assault rifle and a Benelli shotgun. The Glock 23 was found on defendant's bed. 4 RP 245. It was loaded. 4 RP 246. The SKS assault rifle was found in defendant's bedroom. 4 RP 251. Approximately 250 rounds of 7.62 ammunition for the SKS were also found in defendant's bedroom. 4 RP 256. The shotgun was located in the living room. 4 RP 268. It was loaded. 4 RP 270. Krystal testified that there were several guns in the house to prevent them from getting robbed. 4 RP 167. There was sufficient evidence that these three guns were readily available for use as the defendant and his accomplices possessed pills with the plan to sell them. These facts are similar to *State v. O'Neal*, 159 Wn.2d 500, 506 150 P.3d 1121 (2007) (guns readily available and easily accessible to one or more of the accomplices to protect the drug manufacturing operation.) and *State v. Simonson*, 91 Wn. App. 874, 883, 960 P.2d 955 (1998) (guns at the site of an active methamphetamine manufacturing site were there to protect drug production) where the Courts upheld the verdicts. There is sufficient evidence to uphold these special verdict's.

With regard to Count IV, unlawful imprisonment, and Count V, felony harassment, the jury found that the defendant or an accomplice was armed with a 40 caliber Glock, a 45 Taurus and a Benelli shotgun. Colton testified that after DJ was shot, Michael returned upstairs holding the Benelli shotgun. 4 RP 99. Michael told Colton, "I got to kill you now. I'm sorry. I got to." 4 RP 99. Colton told him he does not have a weapon. 4 RP 99. Michael went back down the stairs and Colton went out of the house. 4 RP 100. Colton saw a little girl next door and asked her to call the police. 4 RP 100. Michael came out with the shotgun and ordered Colton back into the house. 4 RP 100. Colton said he will leave and will not tell anyone what happened. 4 RP 102. The defendant told Colton to get into DJ's car, drive it into the garage and load the body. 4 RP 131. The defendant was holding a gun at Colton. 4 RP 132. Michael went out with Colton to get the car and Michael was now armed with a handgun (the Taurus). 4 RP 104. Colton believed Michael picked up the gun from DJ's body. 4 RP 104. Police ultimately recovered the .45 caliber Taurus handgun on a railing at the top of the stairwell in the apartment. 4 RP 271. Colton pulled the car into the garage and the defendant was in the back of the garage still pointing a gun at Colton. 4 RP 104. There was sufficient evidence that these three guns were readily available for use as the defendant and his accomplices committed the crimes of felony harassment and unlawful imprisonment. There is sufficient evidence to uphold these special verdict's.

3. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY  
REFUSING TO GIVE WPIC 17.02 AS IT DOES  
NOT APPLY TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

Jury instructions are sufficient if substantial evidence supports them, they allow the parties to argue their theories of the case, and, when read as a whole, they properly inform the jury of the applicable law. *State v. Hathaway*, 161 Wn. App. 634, 647, 251 P.3d 253, 261 (2011). Generally, a defendant is entitled to an instruction on self-defense if there is some evidence demonstrating self-defense. *State v. Werner*, 170 Wn.2d 333, 336-337, 241 P.3d 410 (2010). When a trial court refuses to give a jury instruction based on a factual reason, the Court reviews the decision for an abuse of discretion. *State v. White*, 137 Wn. App. 227, 230, 152 P.3d 364 (2007). An abuse of discretion occurs when no reasonable judge would have reached the same conclusion. *State v. Rodriguez*, 146 Wn.2d 260, 269, 45 P.3d 541 (2002).

Defendant argues that the trial judge erred by declining to give WPIC 17.02 (defense of self, others, property). However, the trial court indicated that instruction 17.02 is not applicable. 7 RP 499. The trial court believed that the trial was not about the self-defense on the shooting [DJ], but on the detaining of a person [Colton]. 7 RP 482 -483. The trial court believed that giving WPIC 17.02 would confuse the jury. 7 RP 479-481. The Court instead gave instruction 17.03 (detention of person), plus



some of the instructions that go with 17.02, namely 17.04 (actual danger not necessary) and 17.05 (no duty to retreat). 7 RP 499.

The trial court did not err in declining to give WPIC 17.02 as the facts of the case support this decision. The evidence at trial was that defendant and Michael threatened and then forced Colton to remain in the home at gunpoint after DJ's attempted robbery. These facts fit WPIC 17.03 and the trial court gave this instruction for the jury to consider.

These instructions still allowed defendant to argue his theory of the case, which was that he was not guilty of felony harassment and kidnapping because he was using lawful force to detain Colton as someone who was attempting to rob them. This is similar to *State v. Thompson*, 47 Wn. App. 1, 5-6, 733 P.2d 584 (1987), where there was no error found when the trial court refused to give an instruction on the duty to retreat but instead gave a definition on necessary force. In *Thompson*, the Court found that the defendant was able to argue his theory of the case without the instruction. *Id.* Defendant was able to argue that he was using lawful force in the aftermath of DJ's attempted robbery of his home, but the jury rejected defendant's argument.

Defendant's reliance on *State v. Bland*, 128 Wn. App. 511, 116 P.3d 428 (2005), is misplaced as the facts are distinguishable. In *Bland*, the defendant was using force to expel a trespasser who refused to leave

his property. In the case at bar, defendant was not using force to expel Colton from the home, but was using force to illegally detain him in the home. It appears this is why the trial court gave WPIC 17.03 instead of 17.02. The trial court did not err, especially in the context of an abuse of discretion.

4. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED EVIDENCE OF DEFENDANT'S PARTICIPATION IN THE DRUG SALE BUSINESS AS PROOF THAT HE WAS AN ACCOMPLICE IN THE PLAN.

"A defendant may be found guilty of a single count of possession with intent to deliver based on substantial evidence of a continuing course of conduct involving an ongoing enterprise with a single objective." *State v. Love*, 80 Wn. App. 357, 363, 908 P.2d 395 (1996). A continuing course of conduct requires an ongoing enterprise with a single objective. *State v. Gooden*, 51 Wn. App. 615, 619029, 754 P.2d 1000(1988).

In this case, defendant was charged with one count of possession of a controlled substance with intent to deliver based on his participation in this illegal drug sale business. What the defendant argues is "previous drug activity," is part of the continuing course of conduct. The prosecutor argued that this was not propensity evidence and was accomplice liability information. RP 71. The trial court agreed that this was evidence

establishing that the defendant was aiding and assisting the drug sale business and that it may or may not prove accomplice liability. 2 RP 74-75.

The evidence adduced at trial was that police found defendant's prescription pill bottle with 30 oxycodone pills in it. Exh. 18A. Krystal testified about how she, defendant, and Michael sold prescription pills out of the home. 4 RP 156. All three of them had prescriptions for pills. 4 RP 157. They would fill the prescriptions and put the pills into a combined group pile where they would be each be allotted pills for personal use or for sale. 4 RP 157. Michael would hold onto the pills and money. 4 RP 157. While all three sold pills, Krystal did the majority of the selling. 4 RP 158. The evidence of previous drug activity is not propensity evidence, but evidence to show defendant's participation in the business and how this pill bottle with his name on it is not a legitimate prescription for his personal, medical use, but evidence of the crime he is charged with, possession of a controlled substance with intent to deliver.

Assuming arguendo that this should have been treated as evidence subject to ER 404(b), it would have been properly admitted for other purposes, such as proof of motive, intent, plan, and knowledge, not propensity evidence. To admit evidence of other crimes or wrongs under Washington law, the trial court must (1) identify the purpose for which the

evidence is sought to be introduced, (2) determine whether the evidence is relevant to prove an element of the crime charged and (3) weigh the probative value of the evidence against its prejudicial effect. *State v. Lough*, 125 Wn.2d 847, 853, 889 P.2d 487, 490 (1995). In this case, although the trial court did not believe this was ER 404(b) evidence, the court still determined that the evidence was relevant to whether defendant was an accomplice and weighed the probative value against its prejudicial effect. 2 RP 74-75. This is not propensity evidence. The evidence and subsequent argument was not that defendant sold drugs previously so he was selling it on this occasion, but how defendant fits into the drug selling business and how he aided it by supplying the drugs that were going to be sold on that day.

5. THE EVIDENCE OF A KNIFE, GAS MASK, AND BULLETPROOF VEST WAS RELEVANT TO THE CHARGES.

Evidence is relevant if it has “any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence ... more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” ER 401. “The threshold to admit relevant evidence is very low. Even minimally relevant evidence is admissible.” *State v. Darden*, 145 Wn.2d 612, 621, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002). The decision to admit evidence lies within the sound discretion of the trial

court and should not be overturned absent a manifest abuse of discretion.

*State v. Neal*, 144 Wn.2d 600, 609, 30 P.3d 1255 (2001).

In this case, during motions in limine, defendant objected to evidence regarding a gas mask and filters, a knife and a bulletproof vest. The trial court ruled that a photo (exhibit 3A), which shows a gas mask, gas mask filters and a Gerber knife, was admissible as relevant evidence. The court ruled that defendant's possession of a gas-mask, filters, and a knife are relevant to proving knowledge and intent. 2 RP 69. The trial court also ruled that a photo of a bulletproof vest (exhibit 12A) found in Michael's room was admissible as relevant evidence. Again, the trial court believed that "what is discovered and located in the house appears to the Court to have relevance" given that the trial involves a drug delivery house, possession with intent to deliver and people charged as principals and/or accomplices. 2 RP 70.

Assuming arguendo that the trial court erred in admitting this evidence, any error is harmless. "The improper admission of evidence constitutes harmless error if the evidence is of minor significance in reference to the overall, overwhelming evidence as a whole. *State v. Bourgeois*, 133 Wn.2d 389, 403, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997). With the presence of four guns, including an SKS assault rifle and hundreds of rounds of ammunition, these photos were of minor significance to the

evidence as a whole. Defendant cannot show any prejudice from the admission of these two photos.

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